
 
 
 

June 9, 2011 
 
 
 
Mr. George Aboumrad, President 
  and Radiation Safety Officer  
Geo-Sci Laboratory, Inc. 
110 Blaze Industrial Parkway 
Berea, OH  44017 
 
SUBJECT: NOTICE OF VIOLATION – GEO-SCI LABORATORY, INC. 
 
Dear Mr. Aboumrad: 
 
On May 19, 2011, Mr. Robert Gattone, a U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) inspector, 
called you to obtain information about your request for a general license pursuant to Title 10 of 
the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 150.20 (reciprocity) to use a Humboldt Model 5001-C 
gauge (gauge) containing a cesium-137 source and an americium-241/beryllium source to 
conduct moisture and density measurements of soil at a temporary jobsite at a NASA facility in 
Cleveland, Ohio.  Based on that discussion, the inspector learned that, since Ohio became an 
Agreement State, Geo-Sci Laboratory, Inc. (GSL) had used the gauge in NRC jurisdiction only 
on May 10, 2011.  Specifically, on that date, GSL used the gauge to conduct moisture and 
density measurements of soil at the NASA facility in Cleveland, Ohio, an area of exclusive 
Federal jurisdiction.     
 
On May 11, 2011, you were informed by NASA’s Radiation Safety Officer that the NASA jobsite 
was an area of exclusive Federal jurisdiction and you needed to obtain reciprocity approval from 
the NRC to work at the jobsite.  In response, you discontinued use of the gauge at the jobsite.   
 
Based on the information discussed with you the NRC has determined that a Severity Level IV 
violation of NRC requirements occurred.  The violation was evaluated in accordance with the 
NRC Enforcement Policy.  The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC's Web site at 
(http://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html).  GSL’s use of the 
gauge on May 10, 2011, at a NASA location in Cleveland, Ohio, an area of exclusive Federal 
jurisdiction within an Agreement State, without filing Form-241 with the NRC is a violation of  
10 CFR 150.20(b)(1).  You were informed about the violation by Mr. Gattone during the  
June 1, 2011, teleconference.   
 
The root cause of this violation was your belief that GSL’s Ohio license for portable gauge use 
authorized GSL to use the gauge at the NASA jobsite because it was in Ohio.  As corrective 
action you immediately began the process of obtaining NRC approval for reciprocity.  On 
May 13, 2011, the NRC approved your reciprocity request.  In addition, you confirmed your 
understanding of the NRC requirements under 10 CFR 150.20 for work in areas of exclusive 
federal jurisdiction within Agreement States and committed to file for reciprocity in a timely 
manner in the future.   
 
  



G. Aboumrad     -2- 
 
The violation is cited in the enclosed Notice of Violation (Notice) and the circumstances 
surrounding it are described in detail in this letter.  The violation is being cited in the Notice 
because failing to file an NRC Form 241 impacts the NRC's regulatory process by preventing 
the NRC from conducting inspections to assure that licensed material is being used safely and 
in accordance with NRC requirements.  
 
You are required to respond to this letter and should follow the instructions specified in the 
enclosed Notice when preparing your response.  The guidance in NRC Information  
Notice 96-28, "Suggested Guidance Relating to Development and Implementation of Corrective 
Action," may be helpful.  You can find the information notice on the NRC website at:   
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/gen-comm/info-notices/1996/in96028.html.  If you 
have additional information that you believe the NRC should consider, you may provide it in 
your response to the Notice. The NRC review of your response to the Notice will also determine 
whether further enforcement action is necessary to ensure compliance with regulatory 
requirements. 
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, its 
enclosures, and your response, will be made available electronically for public inspection in the 
NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC’s Agencywide Documents Access and 
Management System (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/ 
readingrm/adams.html.  To the extent possible, your response should not include any personal 
privacy, Proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made available to the Public 
without redaction.  
 

Sincerely, 
 
      /RA/ 
 
 

Tamara E. Bloomer, Chief 
Materials Inspection Branch 
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 
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NOTICE OF VIOLATION 
 
Geo-Sci Laboratory, Inc.  Docket No. 150-00034 
Berea, Ohio 
 
During a telephonic discussion between a member of Geo-Sci Laboratory, Inc.’s staff and a staff 
member of the U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) on May 19, 2011, a violation of 
NRC requirements was identified.  In accordance with the NRC Enforcement Policy, the 
violation is listed below:  
 

Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 150.20(a) provides, in part, that any 
person who holds a specific license from an Agreement State is granted an NRC general 
license to conduct the same activity in non-Agreement States, areas of exclusive 
Federal jurisdiction within Agreement States, and in offshore waters, provided that the 
provisions of 10 CFR 150.20(b) have been met. 

 
10 CFR 150.20(b)(1) requires, in part, that any person engaging in activities in non-
Agreement States, areas of exclusive Federal jurisdiction within Agreement States, and 
in offshore waters, shall, at least 3 days before engaging in each such activity, file 4 
copies of NRC Form-241, "Report of Proposed Activities in Non-Agreement States," with 
the Regional Administrator of the appropriate NRC regional office. 

 
Contrary to the above, on May 10, 2011, Geo-Sci Laboratory, Inc., a licensee 
of Ohio, used cesium-137 and americium-241/beryllium at a NASA location in Cleveland, 
Ohio, an area of exclusive Federal jurisdiction within an Agreement State, without filing 
Form-241 with the NRC. 

 
This is a Severity Level IV violation (Section 6.9.c.2.(d)). 

 
Pursuant to the provisions of 10 CFR 2.201, Geo-Sci Laboratory, Inc. is hereby required to 
submit a written statement or explanation to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, ATTN:  
Document Control Desk, Washington, DC 20555-001 with a copy to Tamara E. Bloomer, Chief, 
Materials Inspection Branch, Region III within 30 days of the date of the letter transmitting this 
Notice of Violation (Notice).  This reply should be clearly marked as a "Reply to a Notice of 
Violation” and should include for each violation:  (1) the reason for the violation, or, if contested, 
the basis for disputing the violation or severity level; (2) the corrective steps that have been 
taken and the results achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will be taken; and (4) the date when 
full compliance will be achieved.  Your response may reference or include previous docketed 
correspondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the required response.  Where 
good cause is shown, consideration will be given to extending the response time.   
 
If you contest this enforcement action, you should also provide a copy of your response, with 
the basis for your denial, to the Director, Office of Enforcement, United States Nuclear 
Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555-0001. 
 
Because your response will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC 
Public Document Room or from the NRC’s document system (ADAMS), accessible from the 
NRC Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html, to the extent possible, it should not 
include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be made 
available to the public without redaction.  If personal privacy or proprietary information is  
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necessary to provide an acceptable response, then please provide a bracketed copy of your 
response that identifies the information that should be protected and a redacted copy of your 
response that deletes such information.  If you request withholding of such material, you must 
specifically identify the portions of your response that you seek to have withheld and provide in 
detail the bases for your claim of withholding (e.g., explain why the disclosure of information will 
create an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy or provide the information required by  
10 CFR 2.390(b) to support a request for withholding confidential commercial or financial 
information).  If safeguards information is necessary to provide an acceptable response, please 
provide the level of protection described in 10 CFR 73.21. 
 
In accordance with 10 CFR 19.11, you may be required to post this Notice within two working 
days of receipt.  
 
Dated this 9th day of June 2011. 
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